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NRIS Reference Number: 91000126 Date Listed: 3/4/91
East Portland Grand Avenue Historic District Multnomah OR
Property Name County State
N/A

Multiple Name

This property is listed in the National Register of Historic
Places in accordance with the attached nomination documentation
subject to the following exceptions, exclusions, or amendments,
notwlthstandlng the National Park Service certificatlon included
in the nomination documentation.
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Amended Items in Nomination:

Classification: The Number of Resources within Property should
be revised to read 28 contributing buildings and 28 total
contributing resources. Under number of contributing resources
previously listed in the National Register, the number 6 should
be inserted.

This information was confirmed with Susie Haylock of the Oregon
State Historic Preservation Office.

DISTRIBUTION:
National Register property file
Nominating Authority (without nomination attachment)
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1. Name of Property

other names/site number

2. Location
street & number p~inded by Main and Ankeny Sts SE_7th Ave and-SE M’w‘ for publication
e 4 L4 L4 handend P

city, town Portland [art uther King. o B17C SE_Unic AL
state Oregon code  OR county Multnomah code (5] Zip code 97214
3. Ciassification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
private [ buitding(s) Contributing Noncontributing
[X] public-local [x] district 34 22 buildings
E] public-State D site sites
[:] public-Federal [:I structure structures

] object objects

34 22 Total
Name of related muitiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed in the National Register

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
nomination [_] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my ogjnion, the property X I meeys |:|does not meet the National Register criteria. (] see continuation sheet.
v wgﬂo«——. S /&éwwln 2 - January 3, 1991

Signature of certifying official Date
Oregon State Historic Preservation Office

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property D meets Ddoes not meet the National Register criteria. D See continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification
I, hereby, certify that this property is:

entered in the National Register.
[ ] see continuation sheet. _ﬁymwm /Z &ﬂL. 3 / Y / 1/

[ ] determined eligible for the National
Register. [_| See continuation sheet.

Ddeterminsd not eligible for the
National Register.

[ ]removed from the National Register.
[ other, (explain:)

1

fm, Signature of the Keeper Date of Action




6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter cateqories from instructions)
Commerce/Trade: buisness, financial Commerce/Trade: business, financial,
institution, specialty store ; Institution, specialty storée

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)

. foundation concrete
inate, Commercial, Colonial Revival, walls concrete . brick
Industrial/Utilitarian

roof ____ asphalt: built-up
other stone, wood

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

[x] see continuation sheet
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The East Portland Grand Avenue Historic District is an
approximately 20-block area in Portland, Oregon. The district is
located in Township 1 North, Range 1 East, Section 35 and Township
1 South, Range 1 East, Section 2 in Multnomah County. The historic
district is roughly bounded on the south by S.E. Main Street, north
by S.E. Ankeny Street, west by S.E. Martin Luther King Jr.
Boulevard and east by S.E. Seventh Avenue. Some irregularity is
found at the boundary edges where the concentration of significant
properties did not warrant inclusion of all properties. The
primary resource type found within the district is Commercial.
Industrial, Government and Culture resource types comprise a
smaller portion of the district. The central commercial spine,
S.E. Grand Avenue, 1is characterized by two- to three-story
buildings. Although some intrusions have occurred the district
retains its overall integrity. The main intrusion is on the full
block between Alder and Washington along Grand Avenue where a
modern gas station is located.

NOTE: The whole of the section following, including the
property-by-property inventory, was taken with
appropriate modification for boundary amendments from
Karen Zisman etal, "East Portland Historic District,”
Proposed Nomination to the National Register of °
Historic Places, September 1989. Prepared for Central
Eastside Industrial Council and Hawthorne Boulevard
Business Association by Karen Zisman, Melissa Darby,
Elizabeth O'Brien, Kimberly Poe, and Peter Fry.
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SETTING

The historic district is located within the City of Portland,
Oregon. Portland is located near the mouth of the Willamette River
which flows into the Columbia River at the northern boundary of the
state. The Willamette River bisects Portland east-west. The East
Portland Grand Avenue Historic District is sited near the east bank
of the Willamette River. Historically, this area straddled a
network of sloughs and marshes extending from the river into a
gently rising plain which comprised the City of East Portland from
1861-91. This plain gradually ascends from the river dotted by
several buttes connecting with the foothills of the Cascade
Mountain Range to the east. Today the historic district area is
sited in the inner city area known as the Central Eastside
Industrial District (CEID). The historic district occupies a
prominent location between two major new regional projects: the
new Convention Center to the north and the Oregon Museum of Science
and Industry to the south. Directly on the west side of the
Willamette River is Portland's downtown area. On the east side of
the river and immediately to the west of the district is the heart
of Portland's east side industrial area. To the east of the
historic district are industrial and residential areas. Strip
commercial districts are located on major arterials such as S.E.
Hawthorne and S.E. Belmont farther to the east of the district.

The historic district is platted in 200' x 200' blocks. East-west
streets are named. Avenues run true north-south and are numbered,
with the exception of Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard (Union
Avenue) and Grand Avenue. These two roadways are the major
arterials of the district and function as State Highway 99 East.
Most of the area included in the historic district was laid out as
the East Portland Townsite in 1850 and was formally platted by
James B. Stephens in 1861 on a portion of his donation land claim.
Other subdivisions included within the historic district are Park
Addition to East Portland which was recorded September 20, 1882 by
Mr. McGeorge, President of Park Homestead Association; and
Hawthorne Park platted by Rachel Hawthorne and her daughters,
Louise and Catherine, in 1889.

Despite East Portland's proximity to Portland's harbor trade on the
west bank of the Willamette, the east bank's land form was marshy
and swampy and was not conducive to river transport, thus
restricting early commerce. Most early trade was conducted by
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water routes or ferries across the Willamette River. East
Portland's commercial boom was not initiated until a railway system
was installed by the Oregon Central Railroad Company and began
operating in 1870.

Temporal Boundaries

The East Portland Grand Avenue Historic District has its origin in
the platting of the City of East Portland which began as early as
1850 by James B. Stephens. The townsite of East Portland was
formally recorded in 1861 and incorporated in 1871. East Portland
was later annexed by the City of Portland in 1891. The historic
district boundaries are confined within the 1larger original
townsite of East Portland, later subdivided into the East Portland
Park and Hawthorne Park Additions. The end date of historic
significance, 1930, correlates with the dramatic decline of new
construction for the next 50 years due to a combination of factors,
including the lack of new immigration to the area, the impact of
the depression and World War II, and the construction of the
Interstate 5 freeway ramp on Portland's east bank.

Boundary Justification

The proposed historic district boundary encompasses an
approximately 20-block area roughly bounded by S.E. Ankeny to the
north, S.E. Main to the south, Martin Luther King Jr. Boulevard to
the west and Seventh Avenue to the east. The historic district is
proposed under National Register Criteria "A" for its significant
history. The historic district's theme is Commerce as it evolved
in East Portland. The historic period of significance is 1883-
1930. The historic district is made up of 61% primary and
secondary significant buildings excluding vacant land. 89% of
the buildings were constructed during the historic period prior to
1930. A synopsis of the factors used to determine the historic
district boundaries are as follows:

1) Historic Factors

The historic district represents the early origins of the City
of East Portland and its subsequent development as the major
commercial core of Portland's east side. The original
townsite as platted in 1861 stretched from the Willamette
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River on the west to 12th Street on the east, Glisan on the
north and beyond Hawthorne to the south. The East Portland
townsite as incorporated in 1870 stretched from the Willamette
River on the west to 24th Street on the east, N.E. Halsey to
the north and S.E. Holgate to the south. The historic
district represents a portion of the East Portland townsite
encompassing the nucleus of the original core development and
the most concentrated representation of later commercial
growth.

The identification of the primary importance of the community
business center suggests an East Portland Historic District
defined by the historic commercial and community activities
of Grand Avenue. As an historic artery, the blocks of Grand
Avenue from Ankeny to Salmon offer the core for delineating
such a district. Also important are the surviving blocks
along Alder and Morrison streets between Martin Luther King,
Jr. Boulevard and Seventh, which served as major intersecting
streets for commercial and community activities.

These identified blocks offer the most intense concentration
of primary period buildings within the larger East Portland
study area. Most of the primary, secondary and historic non-
contributing buildings were built to serve the community
business center with retail, office and meeting space. Beyond
this core area building types tend to change to industrial and
residential rather than commercial. Precise boundaries have
been determined on the basis of land use patterns and building
characteristics within this historic framework.

2) Concentration of Significant Properties

The boundaries represent the largest concentration of
historically significant, commercially oriented buildings
located within the East Portland townsite and currently within
the central southeast area of Portland. The district is made
up of primary (1883-1915) and secondary (1916-30) buildings.
The concentration of resources dating from the historic period
(primary, secondary and historic non-contributing) comprises
68% (50 of 74) of the total number of properties in the
historic district, or 89% (50 of 56) of the total number of
buildings within the district.



NPS Form 10-800-0 OMB Approvel No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _7___  Page

The portion of the original townsite north of Burnside
requires further study to determine its significance and
historic district potential. The industrial area to the west
has a number of individually significant buildings and is part
of the study area for Portland's Eastside Multiple Property
Submission. The areas to the immediate south and east of the
historic district do not possess sufficient concentration or
integrity of historic resources to warrant inclusion within
the historic district boundaries but contain resources
eligible for registration wunder the multiple property
submission.

3) Visual and Physical Factors

The northern and southern boundaries, begin and end where
clear concentrations of resources exist. The Morrison Bridge
at the center of the district is the oldest connection between
the east and west banks of the Willamette River. The original
bridge was constructed in 1887 and was later replaced with a
newer bridge. The spine of the district is S.E. Grand Avenue.

The district is composed largely of commercial buildings and
some industrial, governmental and cultural buildings. Many
of the buildings have architectural significance in addition
to historic significance.

4) Historic District Identity

The district is highly visible due to its prime location
between the new Oregon Convention Center and the Oregon Museum
of Science and Industry (OMSI). As the unifying link between
these major projects, the historic district strongly supports
the goals of the City of Portland in its commitment to
developing a cohesive city plan. The district's identity is
one which recognizes the evolution or stages of critical
development in roughly a 50-year period of time in Portland's
east side history.

Generally, boundaries were drawn to include both sides of the
public right-of-way along Grand Avenue, bridge heads, and
entire blocks for the purpose of clarity and consistency in
future planning and regulation.
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5) Economic and Socio-political

New interest in east side development is encouraged by current
public plans but needs to be designed in a manner compatible
with the area's history. The boundaries as proposed ensure
that new construction can occur and will be designed in a
manner compatible with the district. The historic district
can draw significant revenue and attention to the central east
side as a major customer and tourist destination and a source
of identity and pride. Tax benefits, loans and grants
available to primary and secondary properties encourage
rehabilitation and restoration. Without these incentives and
the creation of the historic district, significant properties
would likely be lost.

IDENTIFICATION

There are four basic property types found within the historic
district, as follows: Commercial, Industrial, Social/Cultural and
Governmental. Property types include buildings of architectural
styles commonly found in the 19th and 20th centuries. The primary
styles represented within the district include Italianate, Second
Empire, Colonial-Georgian, Modern Movement and Commercial style.
However, many buildings are designed without a strong influencing
style and are categorized as commercial, industrial or utilitarian
in design.

Buildings within the district generally range from one to four
stories in height and cover about one-sixth to one-half block.
The Weatherly building, which towers above all other buildings at
12 stories, is the only skyscraper in the district.

The commercial property type includes buildings originally
associated with retail and wholesale businesses. Road/vehicular
related (original use) buildings comprise 31% and the largest
property type group. This type includes auto repair shops, auto
dealerships and showrooms, auto part stores, garages and early gas
stations. Buildings with original use as specialty stores comprise
23% of the historic properties and include grocery stores, drug
stores, furniture stores, and building supply and hardware stores.
Mixed use buildings which originally combined specialty stores on
the ground floor and hotels or multiple dwelling units above make
up 13% of the historic buildings. Original use as warehouse
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facilities and for civic/social organizations each make up 8% of
the properties. Other original uses include mortuaries, financial
institutions, hotels, and other businesses.

The largest present use group is in the specialty store category
comprising 35% of the historic buildings. Over time road/vehicular
related uses have dropped to 15% but still remain a major use
group in the district. Other businesses also constitute 15% of the
district currently. Mixed use buildings (special store/multiple
dwelling) now comprise 10% of the historic properties, as do
restaurants. Other current uses include financial institutions and
civic/social organizations.

Commercial Property Type

These buildings range from one to twelve stories in the historic
district. The majority of properties are of masonry construction,
either brick or concrete. Three buildings have some cast iron
elements. A few of the primary buildings are wood frame in
construction with brick facing. One building in the district is
wood frame with wood siding and may have been constructed as early
as 1871. Several buildings use other decorative materials such as
rusticated stone, terra cotta, tile, plaster and wood. Concrete
buildings from the secondary period of development are simple and
utilitarian in their design, corresponding with the onset of the
automobile era.

Commercial buildings sited on the typical 200' x 200' block range
in footprint size from 1/6th, 1/4th, to 1/2 block. Generally,
buildings are sited at the sidewalk along the major arterials and
side streets; setbacks were not part of the historic pattern of
development. Buildings along Grand Avenue generally had central
entries.

The original commercial core hub of East Portland developed in the
1880s and was located between "N" Street or Morrison Street and "J"
Street or Oak Street. By 1930 the commercial core had expanded
north and south along Grand and Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard
from the Hawthorne Bridge to the head of the Burnside Bridge. A
commercial core of Victorian era buildings still remains along
Grand Avenue from Morrison to Oak Street.

The styles of note which characterize the commercial buildings are
Italianate, Second Empire, Colonial Revival and Georgian,
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Commercial style and Modern Movement. The Italianate style and
other Victorian styles were commonly used in the 1880s and 1890s.
These buildings are generally rectangular in plan, symmetrically
composed with prominent cornices, double-hung windows with label
molding and simple design elements. The ground floor level of a
building in the Italianate style is usually composed of storefronts
and a recessed central entry. The Italianate style buildings are
typically two to three stories, wood frame, with brick facing and
flat facades. The Second Empire style, also from the Victorian
period, is distinguished from other Victorian period styles by a
mansard roof.

The historic period styles, Colonial Revival and Georgian,
generally apply to commercial buildings constructed between 1910-
30 with characteristics as follows: decorative elements such as
columns in classical orders, pilasters, keystones, modillions,
dentils and pediments. The Colonial and Georgian type buildings
are rectangular in plan and are constructed of brick. They
generally have low pitched or flat roofs, bilateral symmetry and
central entries.

The Commercial style is generally associated with automobile
showroom buildings in this district. The buildings are of brick
and concrete construction, rectangular in plan, generally two
stories with expansive multipaned windows, wide and numerous bays,
stucco finish, geometrical and abstract ornamentation, simple
cornice and flat roof line.

Elements from a variety of substyles from the Modern Movement were
used in the design of commercial buildings within the district
including Art Deco, Moderne and Contemporary. Generally, modern
details include simplified massing, geometrical ornamentation and
streamlined detailing.

Industrial Property Type

This property type includes buildings associated with processing,
manufacturing and related storage and warehouse facilities. Food
processing and agricultural implements, furniture and garment
manufacturing were among the common original uses for these
resources. The buildings are generally one or two stories in
height and constructed of concrete or brick. Simple in design,

the buildings were rectangular/square in plan and in some cases
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involved a complex of interrelated buildings and additions on one
block.

The industrial buildings generally surround the commercial core and
represent the secondary period of development. Earlier brick
industrial buildings are found just to the west of the district
between Third Avenue and the Willamette River. Most of East
Portland's earliest industrial wood buildings have been destroyed
by fire, the infilling of the swampy and marshy lands which once
characterized this area, or other redevelopment.

Social/Cultural Property Type

This property type includes social buildings. Social buildings in
the district include fraternal lodges/meeting halls. There are two
existing lodges/meeting halls: the Orient Lodge Building which is
designed in the Arts and Crafts style, and the Woodmen of the World
Building in the Colonial/Georgian style. Both buildings are
rectangular in plan, constructed of concrete and brick and located
on Alder Street between Sixth and Seventh Avenues. The Orient
Lodge Building (1907) is from the primary period of development
while the Woodmen of the World Building (1924) is from the
secondary period of development.

Governmental Property Type

This property type includes buildings associated with governmental
agencies and is limited to two extant public works buildings, the
Water Bureau Building in the Jacobethan style and the Pacific
Telephone and Telegraph Building in the Italianate style.

ALTERATIONS

Alterations made to buildings within the district generally relate
to removal, modernization or obscuring of architectural features
such as storefronts, cornices, entrances, exterior surfaces,
pilasters, columns, roofs, windows and doors. Alterations also
include additions. Buildings constructed during the historic
period that have major alterations which negatively impact the
historic appearance of the building were ranked as historic non-
contributing in the district.

ZONING
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All properties within the East Portland Grand Avenue Historic
District fall within one of two zones, CED and GI-1. CED (recently
re-labelled "EXD"), stands for commercial employment with design
review required. This zone allows for a broad range of uses as
outlined in the Portland Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance.
The GI-1 zone allows for general industrial uses. The floor area
ratio (FAR) of the historic district area ranges between 6:1 and
9:1. Maximum building heights allowed in the district range from
100 to 200 feet (bonus points can increase the maximum height and
density).

VISTAS AND INFRASTRUCTURE FEATURES

At the center and western edge of the historic district is the
Morrison Bridge. This 1958 structure replaced the original bridge,
which was the first bridge connecting East Portland to Portland in
1887. The northern and southern entries of the district were
provided by the Burnside (1892) and Hawthorne (1891) bridges which
opened soon after the Morrison Bridge and expanded the opportunity
for boom time development on Portland's east side. The view down
Grand Avenue is the most prominent vista at the street level in the
district; it is highlighted by architecturally significant
buildings from the primary and secondary periods of development and
historically designed street lighting.

The most prominent landmark in the historic district is the
Weatherly Building. It can be seen from most street vantages in
the area. A western backdrop is provided by the west hills, the
downtown cityscape and bridges spanning the Willamette River.

Public Improvements

All roadways were originally 60 feet in width (from property line
to property line). Variations have occurred due to road widening:
S.E. Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard (Union), S.E. Grand Avenue
and S.E. Seventh Avenue to 80 feet and a portion of Morrison to 84
feet; Due to these road widenings adjacent city blocks have
decreased in size from the original 200' x 200' size. Many of
these streets were originally planked and built upon pilings over
the sloughs and marshy land which webbed the historic district.
Most roadways are currently paved with asphalt, although there is
a variety of prior paving materials found beneath the current
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surface. Most significant features are the streetcar tracks and
stone block paving located along Grand Avenue and Ankeny Streets.

Sidewalks are generally 12 feet wide and constructed of concrete.
With the exception of portions of the Morrison bridgehead,
sidewalks are found on all blocks.

Utilities under private ownership were initiated during the early
development of East Portland. Several private water companies
offered their services to the East Portland area, drawing clean,
potable water from deep wells. East Portland did not have the same
difficulties in obtaining quality water that the adjacent City of
Portland had and actually grew as Portlanders sought property with
a more reliable water source. In 1897, after consolidation of the
cities, the East Portland Water Company sold its interest to the
City Water Committee which controlled the city's Bull Run water
supply. East Portland then tapped into the Bull Run water supply
and discontinued drawing from wells located near S.E. 1l1th and
Powell (Pacific Engineer, Oliver, Charles E., April 1930).

Sewer lines run north-south on Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard
and Grand Avenue, Sixth Avenue, Seventh Avenue, and east-west on
Alder, stark, Oak, Pine, Ash, Ankeny, Taylor and part of Yamhill
streets. Overhead wiring runs north-south on Seventh, Sixth, and
Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard and east-west on Yamhill, Salmon,
and Stark streets.

Historically designed street 1lighting is located along Grand
Avenue, Alder Street, and Morrison Street. Modern design lighting
serves Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard and other major
thoroughfares.

Shed cloth awnings are found primarily on commercial buildings
along the major commercial thoroughfare, S.E. Grand Avenue. Metal
marquees are utilized primarily on the service entries of
industrial buildings. Signs are either painted, applied directly
to the facade of the building, or hung from the center or corner
of the facade. Relatively few 1920's style neon signs remain
intact; most have been replaced by backlit plastic signs.
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EVALUATION

Properties were ranked according to construction date and level of
integrity as follows:

RANK CONSTRUCTION DATE NO. OF PROPERTIES
Primary 1883 to 1915 20 (6 Nat. Reg.)
Secondary 1916 to 1930 14
Historic Non-contributing 1883 to 1930 16
Non-contributing 1931 to Present 6
Total Building 56
Vacant Lots 18
Total Properties 74

Primary and secondary rankings represent those properties
constructed between 1883 and 1930 which are virtually intact or
have minor or moderate alterations. Six of the primary buildings
are currently listed on the National Register of Historic Places.*
Historic Non-contributing buildings, also constructed between 1883
and 1930, have major alterations that have negatively impacted
their historic appearance.

Buildings falling within primary and secondary classifications were
categorized by date of construction and integrity. If the building
was constructed within the historic period and had only minor
alterations, then the building was ranked primary or secondary by
virtue of its date of construction. (Minor alterations are those
that do not heavily impact the overall visual appearance, scale,
proportion, craftsmanship or detailing of the building.) Major
alterations to a building constructed within the historic period
resulted in its classification as Historic Non-contributing.
(Major alterations typically include removing or obscuring the
majority of storefronts on a one-story building, masking an
original facade with a modern false facade, adding a false mansard
cornice/roof, removing the majority of primary original windows,
and removing or obscuring the original surface material or
architectural detailing.) Generally, buildings that have had a
majority of the exterior levels altered are considered Historic
Non-contributing. With rehabilitation or restoration work most of
these buildings could  potentially be reranked as primary or

*The six properties previously listed in the Register are Inv. #s 7, 8, 9, 11,
21 and 44,
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secondary, depending upon the reversibility of the alterations and
quality of the work done. Non-contributing properties were
constructed after the historic period of significance. All
buildings post-dating the secondary period or 1931 were ranked Non-
contributing. Vacant lots are separately held parcels listed in
county records as vacant or separately held parcels without
buildings.

IMPACT OF MODERN DEVELOPMENT

Until recently and for the past 50 years there was very little new
construction in the historic district. Economic conditions were
largely responsible for this stagnation. Currently, however,
Portland's central east side is the target for major new
development projects which are likely to have an unprecedented
impact on the historic district.

The historic district is the commercial link connecting Oregon's
recently completed Convention Center and the Oregon Museum of
Science and Industry, currently under construction. The Central
city Plan proposes an historic trolley down Grand Avenue connecting
these projects and 1linking the downtown and the Lloyd Center
shopping mall to the central east side. The trolley will reinforce
the district's historic character and the citywide goal to create
a cohesive Central City. Many public improvement projects for the
Central Eastside Industrial District exceeding $70 million in
capital outlays were identified in the City of Portland's 1979
Central Eastside Industrial Revitalization Study. The Central City
Plan adopted by the City of Portland in 1988 further cites numerous
public and private projects planned or anticipated. Excerpts from
the 1989 Central Eastside Business Directory describe some of the
key public and private projects as follows:

Oregon Convention Center: A 400,000 sq.ft. convention center on
the northern edge of the Central Eastside Industrial District
(CEID) adjacent to the Banfield Light Rail at Northeast Martin
Luther King, Jr. Boulevard and Holladay Street, completed in
September 1990.

Oregon Museum of Science and Industry (OMSI): Property known as

Station "L" (on the Willamette River's east bank south of the
Hawthorne Bridge) has been donated by Portland General Electric for
the relocation and development of an expanded OMSI. Scheduled for
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completion in four years, the facility will include scientific
exhibits, educational activities and an OMNIMAX theater.

East Bank Esplanade: The esplanade is located along the east bank
of the Willamette River. It offers a bike and pedestrian path,
benches, landscaping and spectacular views of downtown Portland.
The esplanade will eventually connect the Oregon Convention Center
on the north and OMSI on the south.

Transit Service: Transit service in the CEID continues to improve
with the addition of a north-south route along the Martin Luther
King, Jr. Boulevard-Grand Avenue corridor. This route and the 1lth
and 12th Avenue corridor connects numerous east-west routes with
MAX, a $147 million Light Rail project running from Gresham to
Portland's Central Business District. Tri-Met continues to work
toward developing a southeastern Light Rail line from Milwaukie
through CEID over the Hawthorne Bridge into downtown Portland. The
Central Eastside Industrial Council (CEIC), the business
association for the area, supports Tri-Met's construction of an
historic trolley line along Grand Avenue connecting with downtown
Portland and Lloyd Center. The trolley would connect with the
Milwaukie Light Rail at OMSI near the Hawthorne Bridge and with the
Banfield Light Rail at the Oregon Convention Center near the Steel
Bridge.

East Marquam Interchange Project: Provides the central east side
with full multidirectional access to Interstate 5 and Interstate
84. Local street connection to the freeways 1is improved.
McLoughlin Boulevard (Highway 99E) is connected to the interstate
system via ramps to Interstate 5 from the Martin Luther King, Jr.
Boulevard-Grand Avenue viaduct.

Oother public improvements planned for the central east side include
street improvements, sewer improvements and lighting improvements.

PREVIOUS S8URVEYS

In 1988 the Portland Eastside Multiple Property Submission was
listed in the National Register of Historic Places under the
sponsorship of the Hawthorne Boulevard Business Association,
updating and expanding the data collected in the 1984 City of
Portland Historic Resources Inventory. The project involved a
three-year 1long effort by numerous business organizations,



NPS Form 10-800-a
-y OMB Approvel No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number _7___ Page __15

neighborhood groups and professional staff to comparatively analyze
all properties for their historic and architectural significance
within a 600-block area of central southeast Portland. In addition
to developing an historical context for East Portland and
Portland's east side, the result of that project was threefold:
1) a Comprehensive Survey and Inventory of Cultural Resources for
the Central Southeast Portland area; 2) determination and listing
of properties individually eligible for the National Register in
the project area under a multiple property submission vehicle; and
3) proposal for an East Portland Historic District in the general
area between E. Burnside Street, S.E. Hawthorne Street, S.E. Third
Avenue and S.E. Seventh Avenue.
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#01  ADDRESS: 1205-15 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Historic Non-contributing
COMMON NAME: Mr. Formal, Inc.
HISTORIC NAME: Hislop, Louise Investment Property Building
DATE BUILT: 1926

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 94

LOT: 7&8

TAX CODE: R-22650-6210

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Road-related (vehicular)
PRESENT USE: Specialty Store
ARCHITECT: Sutton & Whitney
BUILDER: Wegman & Son

OWNER NAME: Lydia L. May

c/o Ernest J. Burrows
OWNER ADDRESS: 12640 N.E. Rose Parkway
Portland, OR 97230

STYLE 1: Commercial
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 1.0

COND. : Good

DESCRIPTION: This 1926 one-story building is rectangular in plan
and is constructed of reinforced concrete. The building occupies
the east half of the block with its primary facade facing east on
Grand Avenue. Its primary facade is symmetrically composed into
15 bays; the north and south elevations are divided into 7 bays.
Commercial in style, this building is restrained in detailing
featuring a central gabled parapet and capped pilasters. Most of
the windows have been replaced by overhead doors, aluminum windows
or infilled with plaster. The entry, originally a vehicle
entrance, consists of an aluminum door with glass block sidelights.
The building is in good condition.

The Louise Hislop Investment Property Building was constructed at
a cost of $17,000 for use as a garage. The original business at
this location is not known. By 1930 the building was occupied by
the Champion Air Compressor Company and Brand's Auto Loan Company.
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The use of the property had changed by 1935 to accommodate the
Merchant's Wholesale Grocery Company and the Morehouse Plate Glass
Company .
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{02 ADDRESS: 1125-35 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Historic Non-contributing
COMMON NAME: Cline Glass Co., Inc.
HISTORIC NAME: Wauna Land Co. Building
DATE BUILT: 1923

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 95

LOT: 5&6

TAX CODE: R-22650-6310

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Road-related (vehicular)
PRESENT USE: Specialty Store
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER: Hoffman, L. H.

OWNER NAME: Gerald L. Franzen

OWNER ADDRESS: 18550 Echo Way
Gladstone, OR 97027

STYLE 1: Commercial
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 1.0

COND. : Fair

DESCRIPTION: This 1923 concrete building is square in plan. The
facades are divided into storefront bays with transoms overhead.
There is a garage door opening on each street. The building has
a simple cornice and flat roof. The building retains its overall
integrity although original storefronts have been replaced with
aluminum windows and panels. The replaced storefronts do reflect
the general lines of the original. The building is in fair
condition.

The Wauna Land Company Building was constructed at a cost of
$12,000 for use as a garage. Original businesses in 1924 include
Farnham & Williams, Inc. (auto sales) and David C. Hodes Company
(auto supplies). The structure has been occupied by various auto-
related businesses including Walbom & Company in 1927 (auto
accessories) and Portland Motor Car Company (used cars) in 1928 and
1929. In 1930 three companies are shown: Lawson Motor Car
Company, Barrett Motor Company, and Super Automotive Service
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Company. By 1935 the building was occupied by a single business,
Mt. Scott Auto Wrecking Company.
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#03 ADDRESS: 1103-17 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Historic Non-contributing
COMMON NAME: Mead Motors, Inc.
HISTORIC NAME: Colt, C. C. Building
DATE BUILT: 1924

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 95

LOT: 7&8

TAX CODE: R-22650-6330

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Road-related (vehicular)
PRESENT USE: Road-related (vehicular)
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER: Wayman, O. R.

OWNER NAME: James A. and Lora R. Meyer

OWNER ADDRESS: 101 S.W. Main Street, #1800
Portland, OR 97204

STYLE 1: Commercial
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 1.0

COND.: Good

DESCRIPTION: This 1924 concrete building is square in plan. The
facades are divided into storefront bays with transoms overhead.
There is a garage door opening on each street. The building has
a simple cornice and flat roof and is in good condition.

The C. C. Colt Building was constructed at a cost of $15,000 for
use as a garage. The original business at this location was the
International Harvester Company motor truck department which
remained through 1928. In 1929 the East Side Wheel & Machine Works
moved in, and in 1930 the Pacific Eisemann Service Corporation
(auto service) is also listed. By 1935 the two companies in the
building were Pacific Eisemann and Rodda Paint.



NPS Form 10-800-
OMB Agprovel No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet |

Section number _7___ Page __21

04 ADDRESS: 1005-25 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Secondary

COMMON NAME: Paquet Building
HISTORIC NAME: Paquet Building

DATE BUILT: 1920

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 96

LOT: 5-8

TAX CODE: R-22650-6390

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Road-related (vehicular)
PRESENT USE: Specialty Store
ARCHITECT: watt, James

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Jack L. Breitbarth

OWNER ADDRESS: 10630 S.W. Hood Avenue
Portland, OR 97219

STYLE 1: Commercial
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 2.0

COND. : Good

DESCRIPTION: The Paquet Building occupies a half-block on S.E.
Grand Avenue. Designed as an automobile showroom as well as a
service store, the building has a variety of functional
architectural elements common to commercial automobile buildings.
These elements include expansive window openings 1lighting the
showrooms, wide garage doors that open into the showroom, and
interior automobile ramps leading to the second story. This two-
story building was built in two phases. The first phase of
construction occurred in 1920 on lots 7 and 8, which are on the
northwest corner of S.E. Grand and Yamhill. The second phase
occurred one year later in 1921 on the south portion of the block
on lots 5 and 6. The addition is slightly smaller than the first
building but is almost identical in detail. The building is
constructed of reinforced concrete and finished with stucco.
Symmetrical and formal in organization, the elevations create a
strong street wall. The bays are separated by paneled pilasters
with capitals which visually support the lintel above the second
story windows. The multipane windows fill the spaces between the
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pilasters. The parapet is flat, as is the roof. The building
retains its original integrity and is in good physical condition.

Joseph Paquet purchased the block in 1906. He was born in 1841 in
St. Louis, Missouri. His father, Francis Paquet, was a fur trapper
with the Hudson Bay Company and a ship's carpenter. Joseph
accompanied his family across the plains in 1852. The family
settled on a ranch four miles from Oregon City. Joseph had little
formal education. When he was fifteen he worked with his father
repairing boats in the summer and fall for the winter run when the
Willamette River was navigable.

Joseph left the ranch and entered into the steamboat building
business. He built the first steam ferry that ran across the
Willamette at Salem in 1866. He built boats and assisted in the
construction of dams as well. He worked for two years with the
Oregon Steamship Navigation Company and was superintendent of
construction for the People's Transportation Company. Joseph
married Mary Elizabeth in 1870 and in 1879 moved to Portland.

"Throughout all the intervening years, Mr. Paquet has followed
contracting of every kind, his work including the building of
boats of every description, the Klamath irrigation ditch, the
Tualatin River and other dams and some of the largest sewers
of Portland...He has built bridges, wharves, railroads, stone
work, concrete work, and in fact, has contracted for work of
almost every description." (Joseph Gaston, Portland. Its
History and Builders, Vol. II, pp. 6687-89, 1912)

He was president of the St. John Shipbuilding Company, President
of the Portland Sand Company, and a member of the firm of Paquet,
Giebish, and Joplin Company, contractors.

He was a community leader in East Portland before it was
consolidated with Portland in 1891. He was chairman of the school
board when the cities consolidated and served as school director
for six years. He owned a considerable amount of property in East
Portland and an 800-acre ranch outside the city.

It is likely he built the subject property though he was 80 when
it was built. He was well known and respected in East Portland and
recognized as a prominent civic leader.
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#05 ADDRESS: S.E. Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard (Union Avenue)
CLASS: Vacant

COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME:

DATE BUILT:

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 97

LOT: 5-8

TAX CODE: R-22650-6430

ZONING: CED (0OS)

ORIGINAL USE:

PRESENT USE: Road-related (vehicular)
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Multnomah County

c/0 Property Management
OWNER ADDRESS: 2505 S.E. 11th Avenue
Portland, OR 97202
STYLE 1:
STYLE 2:
STORIES:
COND. :
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#06 ADDRESS: S.E. Martin Luther King, Jr. Boulevard (Union Avenue)
CLASS: Vacant

COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME:

DATE BUILT:

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 98

LOT: 5-8

TAX CODE: R-22650-6500

ZONING: CED (0S)

ORIGINAL USE:

PRESENT USE: Road-related (vehicular)
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: City of Portland

c/o City Auditor
Bureau Facilities Management
OWNER ADDRESS: 1120 S.W. 5th Avenue, #1204
Portland, OR 97204
STYLE 1:
STYLE 2:
STORIES:
COND. :



NP§ Form 10-800-0
am

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet |

Section number _z __ Page _25

#07

ADDRESS: 721-27 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Primary

COMMON NAME: East Bank Saloon

HISTORIC NAME: West, Nathaniel, Building #2
DATE BUILT: 1896

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 99

LOT: 6

TAX CODE: R-22650-6580

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Specialty Store/Domestic
PRESENT USE: Restaurant

ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Robert C. Hunt and Gary E. Kaer

OWNER ADDRESS: 727 S.E. Grand Avenue
Portland, OR 97214

STYLE 1: Late Victorian
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 2.0

COND. : Good

DESCRIPTION: This building is individually listed on the National
Register of Historic Places along with 711-719 S.E. Grand. It was
constructed in 1896. This two-story, late Victorian commercial
style building is wood-framed and brick clad. Pilasters divide the
first floor into two storefronts with plate glass windows and
multipane transoms. The pilasters support a lintel. The second
floor features a balanced composition of paired one-over-one,
double-hung sash windows. Between the second story paired windows
small vertical panels are set which correspond to brackets
supporting the paneled frieze, and piers which pierce and break up
the cornice and extend to the coping of the flat parapet. The
building is rectangular in massing and vertical in composition.
The first floor storefronts have been altered. However, the
building is in good condition.

Nathaniel West, a native of Broome County, New York, came to
Portland in 1875. In 1876 the West family moved to the town of
East Portland. He went into the dry goods business and lived in
an apartment above the store. The West family built five stores
and a bank on the block. (Harney Hines, The Illustrated History
of Oregon, 1893) Of these buildings, three are standing including
the subject building.

OMS Approval No. 10240018
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The main floor originally housed a drug store. The second story
was divided into apartments.

West was elected president of the East Portland City Council and
was known as a champion of public improvements--most notably a
crossing of the Willamette River at Morrison Street. The original
Morrison Street Bridge, promoted by West and other East Portland
businessmen, was opened in 1887. It was replaced in 1905.
Improvements to the bridge in 1936 necessitated the removal of some
of the buildings the West family built on the block.
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#08

ADDRESS: 711-19 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Primary
COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME:
DATE BUILT:

His Sound Building
Nathaniel West Building
1892

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 99

LOT: 7

TAX CODE: R-22650-6590

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Specialty Store/Domestic

PRESENT USE: Restaurant

ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Robert C. Hunt and Gary E. Kaer

727 S.E. Grand Avenue
Portland, OR 97214

OWNER ADDRESS:

STYLE 1: Italianate

STYLE 2:

STORIES: 3.0

COND. : Deteriorated

DESCRIPTION: This Italianate style building is wood framed and

faced with brick. It was constructed in 1892 and originally used
as a retail store and possibly as a bank. The building is
individually listed on the National Register of Historic Places
along with the neighboring and associated building at 721-27 S.E.
Grand. The current condition of the brick is poor; a portion of
the southwestern wall recently collapsed and has been repaired.

The following is an excerpt of the nomination written by Connie
Cunningham in 1982: '

The main floor dimensions are approximately 51 x 65 feet. Three
of the four original cast iron columns appear at ground level
although the lower portion of the storefronts were altered c. 1928.
The six-light per bay transom is original. Above the modestly
decorated sub-cornice there are eight one-over-one, double-hung,
sash windows per floor. These are set into segmentally arched
frames and are embellished with label moldings. The decorative
scheme for the shed-roofed cornice is almost identical to its
neighbor (701-707 S.E. Grand) with curved brackets and dentils and
low relief sawn frieze panels.

OMB Approvel No. 10240018
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The main floor interior space is divided into two large spaces, one
of which occupies two-thirds of the square footage. Upper floor
rooms are disposed around the T-shaped circulation pattern.

This building was constructed and originally owned by Nathaniel K.
West and remained in the West family up to and through 1907, as
reflected by the Portland Block Book, Vol. II, page 154. Research
through the Sanborn Insurance Maps, 1889 corrected to 1897, reflect
the original uses of the buildings together with their original
addresses. The buildings, formerly addressed 125-133 5th Street
(Morrison was formerly "N" Street and Grand was 5th Street), were
originally used as follows: 125 unspecified retail store, 129 post
office station, 131 unspecified retail store (subject building) and
133 drug store with dwelling on the second floor.

Nathaniel West (1826-97), a native of Broome County, New York, was
descended from Thomas West, a member of the British armed forces
sent to the North American colonies to enforce the Stamp Act.
West's forbearer is said to have switched his allegiance upon
arrival and to have joined the revolutionary movement. In any
event, West brought his wife and four children to Portland in 1875.
In the following year he settled in the separate town of East
Portland on the east bank of the Willamette River and bought
property on 4th and "L" streets. The 4th Street property,
containing a store and house, later was sold to become the East
Portland First National Bank. Bank buildings typically were
associated with his land dealings.

West was elected president of the East Portland City Council and
was known as a champion of public improvements, most notably a
crossing of the Willamette River at Morrison Street. The original
Morrison Street Bridge promoted by West and other East Portland
businessmen was opened in 1887.
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#09 ADDRESS: 701-07 S.E. Grand Avenue

CLASS: Primary

COMMON NAME: West's Block

HISTORIC NAME: West's Block

DATE BUILT: 1883

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 99

LOT: 8

TAX CODE: R-22650-6600

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Specialty Store/Domestic
PRESENT USE: Vacant/Not in Use
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Historic Preservation League of Oregon

OWNER ADDRESS: P.O. Box 40053
Portland, OR 97240

STYLE 1: Italianate
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 2.0

COND. : Deteriorated

DESCRIPTION: West's Block is individually listed on the National
Register of Historic Places. The following is an excerpt from the
nomination written by Jerry R. Bosco and J. Benny Milligan:

West's Block is a two-story wood-frame commercial Italianate
building with brick exterior walls and original exterior trim of
wood and rolled metal. The ground plan measures 48' x 80', with
the shorter dimension fronting SE Grand Avenue. Fenestration of
the formal, six-bay principal (east) facade is regular. ' Second
story windows have segmental arch heads with sheet metal hood
moldings and are fitted with double-hung sash containing one light
over one. At the cornice 1line, a shallow eave with central
pediment is supported by a bracketed frieze which is embellished
with modillions, dentils, brackets of varying size, and frieze
panels decorated with bosses and incised ornament. The secondary
eight-bay street facade fronting Alder is similarly finished but
lacks ground-story shop fronts. Owing to successive remodeling of
the shopfronts on the Grand Avenue facade in the 20th century, the
original configuration of the ground story facade has been lost,
and the current owners have sought to recreate it using salvaged
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cast iron from a destroyed building which was contemporary with
West's Block.

The two-story brick-faced Italianate commercial building erected
at the intersection of S.E. Grand Avenue and Alder Street in 1883
was the first of several buildings constructed on Block 99 of the
East Portland Addition for merchant Nathaniel West.

Nathaniel West (1826-97), a native of Broome County, New York,
...brought his wife and four children to Portland in 1875. 1In the
following year he settled in the separate town of East Portland,
on the east bank of the Willamette River, and bought property on
4th and L Streets.

West was elected president of the East Portland City Council and
was known as a champion of public improvements, most notably a
crossing of the Willamette River at Morrison Street. The original
Morrison Street Bridge promoted by West and other East Portland
businessmen was opened in 1887.

Selling his initial property for a bank site for $30,000 enabled
West to build at 5th and M Streets (later renamed SE Grand and
Alder) and opened the most complete dry goods and ladies' and
gents' furnishings goods establishment on the East Side. The Wests
resided in an upstairs apartment in the building. Over the next
ten years the family constructed additional buildings on the block
including five others and a bank.
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#10 ADDRESS: 620 S.E. Martin Luther King Boulevard

CLASS: Non-contributing

COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME:

DATE BUILT:
TRS NO:
ADDITION:
BLOCK:

LoT:

TAX CODE:
ZONING:
ORIGINAL USE:
PRESENT USE:
ARCHITECT:
BUILDER:
OWNER NAME:
OWNER ADDRESS:

STYLE 1:
STYLE 2:
STORIES:
COND. :

DESCRIPTION:

Post-1935

1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
East Portland

100

5-8

R-22650-6610

CED

Burns Bros., Inc.
612 S.E. Martin Luther King Boulevard
Portland, OR 97214

0.0

This one-story building is square in plan and is
constructed of metal.
and east of the building.

Service islands are connected to the west
The building is in good condition.
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#11 ADDRESS: 523-35 S.E. Grand Avenue

CLASS: Primary

COMMON NAME: Logus Building

HISTORIC NAME: Logus Building

DATE BUILT: 1892

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 101

LOT: 5-6, East 21 feet of Lot 3
TAX CODE: R-22650-6730

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Specialty Store/Domestic
PRESENT USE: Business/Domestic
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Logus Building Partnership

c/o Gust Kanas
OWNER ADDRESS: 10955 S.W. Highland Drive
Tigard, OR 97223

STYLE 1: Richardsonian Romanesque
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 3.0

COND. : Good

DESCRIPTION: The New Logus Block is individually listed on the
National Register of Historic Places. The following paragraphs are
excerpts of the nomination written by George A. McMath, A.I.A.

The New Logus Block, built by Charles Logus in 1892 achieves
architectural significance as an excellent and well preserved
example of Richardson Romanesque design, a popular style for
business structures in Portland during the 1890s. It was certainly
the finest of its kind in East Portland, an area that maintained
its own identity for many years after its consolidation with
Portland in 1891. The rock face stone work, carved stone capitals,
intricate terra cotta patterns, and the pressed red brick are
characteristic elements of the style, and in the Logus Block they
have been executed and assembled to the highest standards known in
the City.
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The Logus Block which measures 100' on Grand Avenue and 90' on
Washington Street has a structure typical of the period: masonry
exterior bearing walls and interior foundation walls, and wood
frame bearing walls, partitions, and floor and roof structure.

The brick bearing wall system continues on the first floor and
originally defined a central entrance, still intact, and four
storefronts on Grand Avenue and a single storefront at the
southwest corner on Washington Street. While the brick bearing
walls remain the store interiors have been substantially altered.

The second and third floors were originally designed as residential
rooms with 22 units of one, two or three rooms on each floor.
Common men's and women's restrooms with adjacent 1light and
ventilation wells were located along the north wall.
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#12 ADDRESS: 509 S.E. Grand Avenue

CLASS: Primary

COMMON NAME: Schleifer Furniture
HISTORIC NAME: Chamberlin Hotel (1930)
DATE BUILT: 1897

TRS NO: 1S, 1E, NE 1/4 Sec. 3
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 101

LOT: 7-8, East 21 feet of Lot 2
TAX CODE: R-22650-6760

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Specialty Store/Domestic
PRESENT USE: Specialty Store
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Ida and Samuel Schleifer

c/o Schleifer Furniture Co.
OWNER ADDRESS: 509 S.E. Grand Avenue
Portland, OR 97214

STYLE 1: Second Empire
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 3.5

COND. : Good

DESCRIPTION: This three and one-half story building, constructed
in the Second Empire style, displays the characteristic details
that define this style. Characteristics include the mansard roof,
dormer windows, quoining, and tall one-over-one double-hung sash
windows in paired groupings with elaborate window-surrounds. The
window-surrounds feature exaggerated keystones and broad lintels.
The sides and bases of the windows feature brick work in a
crenellated motif. Dormer windows feature pedimented gable ends,
some embellished by eave returns. Pilasters visually support the
broad and paneled frieze and projecting cornice.

The building is rectangular in massing and plan. The alterations
include infilling of second and third story windows and the
installation of full length plate glass showroom windows on the
first floor. The building fronts on S.E. Grand, and is in good
condition.

In 1898 a large mortgage was taken out on this property in the
amount of $100,000 by Rachel Hawthorne, widow of Dr. J.C.
Hawthorne. The Hawthorne family was prominent in East Portland.
Hawthorne Avenue was named after Dr. Hawthorne, as was the
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Hawthorne Lodge of the Masons. He was the first superintendent of
the Oregon Asylum for the Insane, the largest employer in the 1860s
in early East Portland, with a staff of over 400. Dr. Hawthorne
specialized in mental and nervous diseases, and was one of the
first neurologists on the West Coast. He died in 1881, and his wife
carried on his work until her death in 1912 resulting from a
nervous breakdown.

The upper floors were used as a hotel. The main floor was
commercial. In 1905 Joseph Healy purchased the property. He was
an investor and part owner of United Railways and a director of
Merchants National Bank. He sold the property to W. L. Morgan in
-1907. Morgan took out several mortgages on the property, and it
is likely he remodeled the building. His firm controlled or owned
fourteen of the finest apartment structures in Portland, several
business buildings, and one hotel. He built a fortune this way
(Oregon Historical Society Scrapbook #45). 1n 1930 this was known
as the Chamberlain Hotel.
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#13 ADDRESS: 439 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Primary

COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME:
DATE BUILT:

Kerns Building
Morgan Atchlee Building
1910

TRS NO: AN, 1E, SW 1/4 Sec. 35
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 102

LOT: 5-6

TAX CODE: R-22650-6840

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Manufacturing Facility
PRESENT USE: Commerce/Trade
ARCHITECT:

BUILDER:

OWNER NAME: Joel Grayson
OWNER ADDRESS: 7959 S.E. Foster Road
Portland, OR 97206

STYLE 1: Commercial
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 3.0

COND. : Fair

DESCRIPTION: The Morgan Atchley Building is a three story
reinforced concrete building, square in massing. The first floor
has storefront windows which are highlighted by a continuous band
of transom windows extending the length of the Grand Avenue facade
and across part of the Stark Street elevation. A lintel course
divides the main floor from the upper floors. The bays in the
upper floors are separated by pilasters which extend to the top of
the parapet. The roof is flat. Fenestration is reminiscent of the
Chicago Style, composed of one-over-one, double-hung sashes in
groups of three. The building has been altered, and some of the
windows have been filled. The building is in fair condition. The
building is located on the southwest corner of Stark Street and
Grand Avenue.

The building was constructed in 1910 and may have been used as a
furniture manufacturing facility for the Morgan Atchley Furniture
Company. William L. Morgan was president of Morgan Fliedner and
Boyce, architects and builders. It is likely they designed and
built the subject building. William Morgan was a savvy speculator
in real estate, specializing in apartment buildings. (OHS Scrapbook
#45)
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The Oregon City Woolen Mills moved into the building ¢.1920. They
had the building remodeled into a garment factory. They brought
the cloth direct from their weaving plant at Oregon City. (East
Side Business Club Minutes 1/26/22) Daniel Kern purchased the
building in 1921. He was a State Senator and leader in the
Democratic Party.
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#14 ADDRESS: 405 S.E. Grand Avenue

CLASS: Primary

COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME: Clarke & Woodward Building
Condit & Conser Auto Sales Co.

DATE BUILT: 1911

TRS NO: 1N, 1E, SW 1/4 Sec. 35
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 102

LOT: 7-8

TAX CODE: R-22650-6860

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Road-related (vehicular)
PRESENT USE: Specialty Store
ARCHITECT: Houghtaling & Dougan
BUILDER: Zanello Bros.

OWNER NAME: Joel Grayson

OWNER ADDRESS: 7959 S.E. Foster Road
Portland, OR 97206

STYLE 1: Commercial
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 1.0

COND. : Good

DESCRIPTION: This 1911 one-story building is rectangular in plan.
Its walls are constructed of reinforced concreted with a smooth
stucco finish. It is designed in the Commercial style; its bays
are articulated by pilasters, a horizontal banding above the
fenestration and a simple metal cornice. The primary facade is
divided into six bays with five bays dividing the north elevation.
Most of the original lights have been replaced by aluminum panes
on the ground level with two wood windows remaining on the
secondary facade. Several of the multi-paned mezzanine 1lights
remain intact, although some have been covered by plywood. The
building is in good condition.

The Clarke and Woodward Building was constructed at a cost of
$25,000 for use as a warehouse. Louis G. Clarke and William P.
Woodward were noted civic and business leaders in Portland and the
Northwest. Together, they owned and managed the Clarke, Woodward
Drug Company, one of the largest wholesale drug supply and
manufacturing companies in the Northwest, and its sister business,
the retail drug company Woodward, Clarke and Co. These businesses
were part of a successful 42-year operation, until the sale of the
company in 1924. This structure was probably an investment

OMB Approvel No. 1024-0018
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property for Clarke and Woodward, as they do not appear to have
occupied or used the building. The original business was Condit
& Conser, a large auto sales and service company. A photograph of
the building taken in 1930 shows the Central National Bank at this
location (Portland East Side 1930, Hubert Beckwith Groves).
Several businesses are listed at this address by 1932 including
Portland Adjustment Association, Cascade Electric Company, Western
Electric Alarm Company, and Pacific Engineering & Construction
Company. By 1935, the structure was in use by the Tarola Motor Car
Company for used car sales.
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#15

ADDRESS: 333 S.E. Grand

CLASS: Vacant

COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME:
DATE BUILT:
TRS NO:
ADDITION:
BLOCK:

LOT:

TAX CODE:
ZONING:
ORIGINAL USE:
PRESENT USE:
ARCHITECT:
BUILDER:
OWNER NAME:
OWNER ADDRESS:

STYLE 1:
STYLE 2:
STORIES:
COND. :

1N, 1E, SW 1/4 Sec. 35
East Portland

103

5-6

R-22650-6920

CED

Road-related (vehicular)

Miller Paint Co., Inc.
317 S.E. Grand Avenue
Portland, OR 97214

0'0
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#16 ADDRESS: 311-317 S.E. Grand Avenue
CLASS: Secondary
COMMON NAME: Miller Paint Co.

HISTORIC NAME: Miller Brothers Building
Miller Paint & Wallpaper Co.

DATE BUILT: 1926

TRS NO: 1N, 1E, SW 1/4 Sec. 35
ADDITION: East Portland

BLOCK: 103

LOT: 7

TAX CODE: R-22650-6940

ZONING: CED

ORIGINAL USE: Specialty Store
PRESENT USE: Specialty Store
ARCHITECT: Clark, J. B.

BUILDER: Lacer & Miller

OWNER NAME: Relim Properties, Inc.

Herbert G. Miller
OWNER ADDRESS: 317 S.E. Grand Avenue
Portland, OR 97214

STYLE 1: Utilitarian
STYLE 2:

STORIES: 2.0

COND. : Good

DESCRIPTION: This 1926 two-story building is rectangular in plan
and was constructed of reinforced concrete with a smooth plaster
finish. The ground level of the primary facade is divided into
five bays, the south corner bay os slightly smaller in scale. The
fenestration is composed of large fixed panes with overhead transom
lights of rippled translucent glass. The second floor is lighted
by seven wood casement windows. The building is in good condition.

The Miller Brothers Building was constructed at a cost of $11,000.
The property has been owned by the Miller family and used as a
paint and wallpaper store from 1925 to the present.
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17

ADDRESS: 315 S.E.

CLASS: Noncontributing

COMMON NAME:
HISTORIC NAME:
DATE BUILT:
TRS NO:
ADDITION:
BLOCK:

LOT:

TAX CODE:
ZONING:
ORIGINAL USE:
PRESENT USE:
ARCHITECT:
BUILDER:

OWNER NAME:
OWNER ADDRESS:

STYLE 1:
STYLE 2:
STORIES:
COND. :

Broadview Dairy

1944

1N, 1E, SW 1/4 Sec.

East Portland
103

8
R-22650-6950
CED

Warehouse for adjacent creamery

Warehouse

Grand Avenue

35

Relim Properties, Inc.
317 S.E. Grand Avenue

Portland, OR 97214

Utilitarian

0.0

DESCRIPTION: The simple single story structure on the west 20 feet
of this lot is a 1944 addition to a 1932 structure on lot 1 (to the
west, out of the historic district) which originally housed the

Broadview Dairy.
with wood framing.
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